ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Anderson County

R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

CS
RECEIVED

AUG 19 2013

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JAMARIO Q. JONES,

APPELLANT

Appellate Case No. 2012-210189

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CARMEN V. GANJEHSANI
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

The Trial Court erred in refusing to grant Appellant's motion for a directed verdict where the evidence presented by the State only raised a mere suspicion that Appellant was guilty of first degree burglary, armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 26, 2011, Jamario Quinton Jones was indicted by the Anderson County Grand Jury for (1) first degree burglary; (2) armed robbery; and (3) possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 233.

A trial was held before the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh and a jury on February 13-15, 2012. R. 1. Jones was represented by Donald L. Smith, and the State was represented by Rame Campbell and Josh Allen. R. 1.

On February 15, 2012, the jury found Jones guilty of (1) first degree burglary; (2) armed robbery; and (3) possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 209. Judge McIntosh sentenced Jones to twenty-years imprisonment for armed robbery and first degree burglary with the sentences on each to run concurrent. Judge McIntosh also sentenced Jones to five years imprisonment on the charge of possession of weapon during the commission of a violent crime which was to run consecutively to the twenty-year sentence. R. 210-12.

Jones filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the Denial of his Motion for a Directed Verdict and a Motion for a New Trial on February 27, 2012. R. 213; R. 202, 1. 4 – 203, 1. 2. On March 7, 2012, a hearing was held on Jones' post-trial motions where Judge McIntosh orally denied both motions. R. 213-23.

Jones timely filed and served his Notice of Appeal on March 19, 2012.

ARGUMENT

The Trial Court erred in refusing to grant Appellant's motion for a directed verdict where the evidence presented by the State only raised a mere suspicion that Appellant was guilty of first degree burglary, armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime.

A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict at trial when the State fails to present evidence on a material element of the offense charged. State v. Brown, 360 S.C. 581, 586, 602 S.E.2d 392, 395 (2004). The grant of a directed verdict motion for acquittal by a defendant is proper if there is a failure of competent evidence tending to prove the charge. State v. Jackson, 395 S.C. 250, 254, 717 S.E.2d 609, 611 (Ct. App. 2011).

If there is any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, the trial court should submit the case to the jury. Otherwise, "a trial judge should grant a directed verdict motion when the evidence merely raises a suspicion the accused is guilty." "Suspicion" implies a belief or opinion as to guilt based upon facts or circumstances which do not amount to proof. State v. Buckmon, 347 S.C. 316, 321-22, 555 S.E.2d 402, 404-05 (2001); see also State v. Odems, 395 S.C. 582, 586, 720 S.E.2d 48, 50 (2011); State v. James, 362 S.C. 557, 561, 608 S.E.2d 455, 457 (Ct. App. 2004).

The State's evidence that Jones had committed first degree burglary, armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime consisted primarily of the testimony of the two alleged victims, Ronnie Bentley and Darcel Taylor.

Ronnie Bentley testified that on April 15, 2011, she was at her apartment with her friend Darcel Taylor and Taylor's two children. R. 75, ll. 1-13. She said that around 2:00 p.m., Jones knocked on her door and asked if her cousin Byrd was at her apartment. R. 72,

l. 25 – 73, l. 1; 75, l. 17 – 76, l. 15. Bentley told Jones that Byrd did not live with her, and she shut and locked the door. R. 76, ll. 19-21.

Bentley said that her sister then called her on the phone and while she was talking to her sister, she heard another knock on her door. R. 77, ll. 2-5. She said that she opened the door again and it was Jones standing there with a gun in her face telling her to get off the phone and that he told her to get on her kitchen floor. R. 77, ll. 6-10.

Bentley also testified that Jones had a black gun and black gloves, two items he did not have on him the first time he knocked on her door. R. 78, ll. 1- 11.

Bentley said that Jones was going through her kitchen and "scrambling through everything." R. 79, ll. 14-16.

Bentley said that after Jones came into her apartment, Melody Ellis also entered the apartment. R. 81, ll. 21-25. Bentley confirmed that she knew of Melody Ellis and that they had dated the same women. R. 82, ll. 1-5; 98, ll. 9-20. Bentley said Ellis came over to her and was yelling about Bentley "going around talking about me [Ellis] having sex with men" and that Ellis was kicking Bentley and telling Bentley to get up and fight. R. 82, ll. 15-20. Bentley said that Ellis was the only one who physically assaulted her and that Jones never struck or touched her. R. 97, ll. 6-12.

Bentley testified that Jones took about \$350.00 from her person and her apartment. R. 83, l. 18 – 85, l. 1.

Bentley testified that Ellis and Jones were in her home no more than twenty minutes before they left. R. 102, ll. 2-3.

Darcel Taylor testified that on April 15, 2011, she was at Bentley's apartment sitting on the couch and around 12:30 or 1:00 p.m., there was a knock at the door. She said

Bentley answered the door and said "Byrd doesn't live here" and shut the door. R. 54, ll. 14-24; 68, ll. 16-19.

Shortly after the first knock, Taylor said she heard a second knock while Bentley was on the phone with her sister. R. 56, ll. 8-11. Taylor said the next thing she knew a man with a black gun and black gloves was standing there yelling about where's the money. R. 56, ll. 21-25. Taylor said then a female entered the apartment, ranting and raving, "Oh, so you think you all are bad, talking shit, da, da, da, da." R. 57, ll. 9-13. At some point, Taylor said Ellis was kicking her. R. 58, ll. 7-15.

Taylor said Ellis kept on talking to Bentley, saying, "Oh, you think you're so bad, talking about me in the streets," and "Why you with this loser?" R. 59, ll. 18-22. Taylor said the entire episode lasted a good thirty minutes to an hour. R. 66, ll. 1-5. She said at the end, Jones took her phone. R. 70, ll. 17-18.

The evidence presented by the State only raised a mere suspicion of Jones' guilt for several reasons. First, the alleged burglary and armed robbery occurred in an apartment where the only witnesses were the two victims, Bentley and Taylor, and the only evidence of a burglary and armed robbery came from their statements. R. 48, ll. 17-23; 192, l. 24 – 193, l. 1; 196, ll. 5-9. The State's lead investigator, Detective Tommy Johnson, conceded that this case and whether a burglary and armed robbery took place depended on the testimony of the two alleged victims:

Q: So, really this case, again, boils down to the statements of the victims. Correct?

A: As far as what took place in the apartment, Yes, sir.

R. 192, l. 24 – 193, l. 1.

The testimony of these two witnesses about the incident and whether a burglary and armed robbery occurred is quite suspect, however, because at trial, Bentley and Taylor were caught offering false testimony.

Ronnie Bentley testified that two days prior to the incident, on April 13, 2011, she met Jones through her cousin Quenton Byrd. R. 72, l. 21 – 73, l. 2; 99, l. 24 – 101, l. 4. She said this meeting occurred at friend's house. R. 73, ll. 5-9.

Bentley said she saw Jones again on the next day, April 14, 2011, in the afternoon. R. 73, ll. 20-22; 100, l. 7 – 101, l.4. Bentley said Jones came to her apartment door and asked if Byrd was there. She said she informed Jones that Byrd was not there. R. 73, l. 20 – 74, l. 12.

Darcel Taylor also testified that she saw Jones on April 14, the day before the incident. She said she was off of work that day and was sitting on the couch that day when Jones knocked on Bentley's apartment door on April 14. R. 69, ll. 10-24.

The testimony of Bentley and Taylor that they saw Jones in the two days prior to the incident turned out to be a complete and utter fabrication because Jones had actually been booked into the Anderson County Detention Center on April 6, 2011 and was not released until April 14, 2011 at approximately 4:00 p.m. R. 193, l. 22 – 194, l. 11; R. 236 [Booking Report.] Detective Tommy Johnson even agreed that Bentley could not have met Jones on the dates prior to the incident. R. 198, ll. 5-18.

Bentley's testimony contained other falsehoods as well. Bentley testified that Ellis had never taken marijuana from her before, that she did not have an on-going feud with Ellis, and that this was not the third time Ellis had beat her up. R. 99, ll. 4-19.

Detective Tommy Johnson testified at trial, however, that Ellis and Bentley had been in an altercation prior to the incident. R. 191, l. 22 – 192, l. 3. Detective Johnson also read a report on the stand at trial which stated:

Bentley said that Ellis had robbed her of marijuana, approximately, four years ago. Bentley was delivering some marijuana to Ellis. Bentley gave the marijuana to Ellis and Ellis ran off without paying Bentley.

R. 197, ll. 15-18.

That the two alleged victims would take the stand at trial and falsely testify as to the events surrounding the day of the alleged incident demonstrates that these two witnesses lack any credibility, and the testimony they provided about what happened inside Bentley's apartment on the day of the incident is outright non-reliable. Without the testimony of Bentley and Taylor, the State's remaining evidence as to whether Jones was guilty of first degree burglary, armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime is based purely on speculation, conjecture, and surmise.

There was no forensic evidence taken from the scene and no fingerprints of Jones were identified in the apartment. R. 48, l. 16; 154, l. 13 – 155, l. 16; 182, ll. 5-20. There are no photographs showing the inside of the apartment after the alleged burglary and robbery because those were lost due to some sort of computer software failure on law enforcement's computers. R. 150, ll. 7-19.

Bentley and Taylor both testified that Jones was wearing black gloves when he knocked on the door of the apartment the second time, but these alleged black gloves were never found. R. 186, ll. 15-16. Jones was not in possession of any black gloves at the time of his arrest later that day. R. 201, ll. 22-24. The two members of an EMS squad whose building was located approximately 250 yards from the apartment did not make a note of

seeing Jones with any black gloves when he walked by the EMS building window. R. 21, l. 15 - 22, l. 16; 24, ll. 16-20; 26, ll. 16-21; 28, ll. 3-12; 30, l. 10 - 31, l. 3. Detective Tommy Johnson testified that despite a thorough search of the area in which Jones would have traveled from the apartment to get to the EMS building, no gloves were ever found. R. 181, ll. 1-12.

When Jones was arrested around 5:30 or 6:30 p.m. on the same day as the incident, he was found to only have on him \$202.00 and change, not the \$350.00 the victims alleged was taken from the apartment. R. 159, ll. 10 - 23; 172, ll. 12-20; 183, ll. 3-5; 189, l. 24 - 190, l. 10; 199, ll. 15-17. Detective Johnson conceded that he had no idea if Jones already had this money in his pocket prior to the alleged incident. R. 183, ll. 20-23; 184, ll. 12-15. Ellis did not have any money on her when arrested. R. 189, ll. 22-23.

The cell phone allegedly taken from Darcel Taylor was never found. R. 185, l. 22 - 186, l. 14; 199, l. 18 - 200, l. 5.

At most, this was a case where Melody Ellis wanted to go over and fight with and beat up Ronnie Bentley because Ellis was having some issues with things that Bentley was allegedly saying about Ellis. R. 59, ll. 18-22; 82, ll. 15-20. Ellis consistently said in her statements to law enforcement that going over to Bentley's apartment "just to fight" was the only reason she went to Bentley's apartment. R. 47, ll. 4-24; 49, ll. 5-7; 50, ll. 4-7; 190, l. 25 - 191, l. 8.

In summary, the State's evidence only raises a mere suspicion that Jones was guilty of first degree burglary, armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. The State failed to present competent evidence proving these three charges.

More specifically and with respect to armed robbery, the State failed to prove the element of a taking. "Armed robbery is defined as the felonious or unlawful taking of money, goods, or other personal property or any value from the person of another or in his presence by violence or by putting such person in fear." State v. Porter, 389 S.C. 27, 39, 698 S.E.2d 237, 243 (Ct. App. 2010).

Jones and Ellis were not found with the \$350.00 allegedly taken from Bentley's apartment. R. 159, ll. 10–23; 172, ll. 12-20; 183, ll. 3-5; 189, l. 22–190, l. 10; 199, ll. 15-17. The State also conceded that the \$202.00 that was found on Jones could have been in his possession prior to the incident. R. 183, ll. 20-23; 184, ll. 12-15. The State also never recovered the cell phone that was allegedly taken. R. 185, l. 22–186, l. 14; 199, l. 18–200, l. 5.

Bentley and Taylor were the only two people who saw the items that were allegedly taken. Based on their other fabricated testimony, it is unknown whether the items existed or were even in the apartment at the time of the incident in the first place. The State at most has only raised a mere suspicion that Jones took anything from Bentley and Taylor warranting an acquittal on the armed robbery charge.

If the State is unable to prove armed robbery, the State is also unable to prove that Jones was guilty of first degree burglary. The offense of first degree burglary requires the State to prove both that a person entered a "dwelling without consent" and "with an intent to commit a crime in the dwelling." S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-11-311(A).

There is no competent evidence to establish that Jones entered Bentley's apartment with an intent to commit a crime. The State cannot show that anything was taken, eliminating any alleged intent to commit an armed robbery while inside the apartment.

Melody Ellis consistently provided statements to law enforcement that her only intent in entering Bentley's apartment was to fight with and beat up Bentley. R. 47, ll. 4-24; 49, ll. 5-7; 50, ll. 4-7; 190, l. 25 – 191, l. 8. The State offered no evidence whatsoever of Jones' intent in entering Bentley's apartment, and therefore, a directed verdict for Jones on first degree burglary is also proper where the State only raised a mere suspicion of Jones' intent in entering the apartment.

Finally, the State's lack of competent evidence to prove either armed robbery in violation of § 16-11-330(A) or first degree burglary in violation of § 16-11-311 also means that Jones cannot be convicted for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime in violation of § 16-23-490.

The State's case against Jones for first degree burglary, armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime was based solely on the testimony of the two alleged victims who were the only ones who knew what went on inside Bentley's apartment that day, and those two witnesses provided false testimony at trial. The State is required to prove that Jones was guilty beyond a reasonable doubt, and if false testimony by the two sole eyewitnesses does not create reasonable doubt, then there is no such thing.

This coupled with the fact that the jury only deliberated for approximately thirty minutes after a two and a half day trial with nine witnesses undermines any confidence that Jones received a fair trial. R. 225 [Motion]; R. 206-09. The Trial Court should have granted Jones' directed verdict motion when the evidence presented by the State merely raised a suspicion that Jones was guilty of the charged crimes.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Appellant Jamario Quinton Jones respectfully requests this Court to reverse the Trial Court and issue an Order of Acquittal.