**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Anderson County  
Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No: 2012-210189

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JAMARIO QUINTON JONES,

Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JENNIFER ELLIS ROBERTS  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No: 79818

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**RECEIVED**

AUG 05 2013

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Anderson County  
Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No: 2012-210189

---

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

## ARGUMENT

**The trial court properly denied Appellant's motion for directed verdict because sufficient evidence was presented establishing Appellant was guilty of first-degree burglary, armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime.**

Appellant argues the trial court erred in denying his directed verdict motion because the State raised only a mere suspicion that Appellant was guilty of first-degree burglary, armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. Specifically, he argues the only evidence of a burglary and armed robbery came from the victims' statements and their testimony is suspect because they were caught offering false testimony. On the contrary, the State did present sufficient evidence showing Appellant was guilty of all three crimes. Moreover, the victims' credibility is an issue of weight and must not be considered in granting or denying a directed verdict motion. Thus, the trial court correctly denied the directed verdict motion and allowed the case to be submitted to the jury for resolution.

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). "When ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight." State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006). When reviewing a trial court's denial of a defendant's motion for a directed verdict, an appellate court must view the evidence in a light most favorable to the State. State v. Venters, 300 S.C. 260, 264, 387 S.E.2d 270, 272 (1990). An appellate court must find a case is properly submitted to the jury if any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused. Weston, 367 S.C. at 292-93, 625 S.E.2d at 648. An appellate court may reverse a trial court's denial

of a motion for a directed verdict if there is no evidence to support the trial court's ruling or if the ruling is based on an error of law. State v. Dantonio, 376 S.C. 594, 603, 658 S.E.2d 337, 342 (Ct. App. 2008). “[U]nless there is a total failure of evidence tending to establish the charge laid in the indictment, the trial judge's ruling upon a motion for a directed verdict must stand absent an error of law.” State v. Nix, 288 S.C. 492, 496, 343 S.E.2d 627, 629 (Ct. App. 1986) (emphasis added).

“In reviewing a denial of directed verdict, issues not raised to the trial court in support of the directed verdict motion are not preserved for appellate review. A defendant cannot argue on appeal an issue in support of his directed verdict motion when the issue was not presented to the trial court below.” State v. Kennerly, 331 S.C. 442, 455, 503 S.E.2d 214, 221 (Ct. App. 1998). See State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (“A party cannot argue one ground for a directed verdict in trial and then an alternative ground on appeal.”).

The only ground Appellant argued in his motion for directed verdict at trial was that Bentley and Taylor lied about Appellant's knocking on the apartment door on April 13 and 14, 2011. His motion follows:

The defense moves for a Directed Verdict based on their lies, to use that term, because there was no question he was in jail on April 13<sup>th</sup> and 14<sup>th</sup> and they are the only eyewitnesses to these alleged crimes, the only eyewitnesses, I don't care what happened outside that apartment, everything derives from inside the apartment. These ladies, obviously, mis-remember. There's no way that Ms. Bentley met the defendant on Wednesday. He was in jail on the 14<sup>th</sup> when he allegedly came by and knocked on the door asking for Byrd. Beyond a reasonable doubt, there's no way he could have been there. So, they are the only eyewitnesses and clearly, I don't know what perjury is, but I don't know what else to say, but she obviously did not see him on the 14<sup>th</sup>. She testified she saw him in the

afternoon, 2:00 in the afternoon and that's impossible. So, based on those things, we'd ask for a directed verdict.

(R. p.202, lines 4-19.) He did not argue the State raised only a mere suspicion of his guilt, nor did he argue any other "falsehoods" told by Bentley as he does in his brief. Specifically, he did not argue at trial that Bentley lied when she testified that (1) Ellis had never taken marijuana from her, (2) she did not have a feud with Ellis, and (3) this was not the third time Ellis had beat her up. Thus, these specific issues are not preserved for review. The fact that Appellant raised these arguments in a motion to reconsider does not save them from being unpreserved. State v. Taylor, 399 S.C. 51, 63-64, 731 S.E.2d 596, 603 (Ct. App. 2012) (holding that an issue first raised in a post-trial motion is insufficient to preserve it for review on appeal where it was not first raised at trial).

Addressing the merits, the trial court properly denied the directed verdict motion because sufficient evidence existed to establish Appellant's guilt as to all three charges. While Bentley and Taylor were the only people inside the apartment during the incident and, thus, their testimony was vitally important, substantial circumstantial evidence supported their testimony. First, two videos from the apartment's surveillance camera showed two people get out of a Burgundy Honda Accord between 1:30 and 1:50 p.m. on April 15, 2011, and walk toward Bentley's building. (R. p.129, line 8-R. p.140, line 7.) In addition, Appellant gave a statement in which he admitted to running from the scene and giving his friend "Dee" (DeAngelo Acker) the gun and telling him to put it on his refrigerator, where it was later found by law enforcement. Acker testified Appellant told him he robbed someone after giving him the gun. Appellant was wearing clothing that matched the victims' descriptions. Two Belton EMS employees, Jim Ritter and Hoyt Thackston, saw Appellant run past the EMS building and Thackston actually saw him

drop a gun. He was running from the apartment where the incident took place and he and the gun matched the descriptions the victims gave. Even though Appellant had just been released from jail the day before the incident with no cash, he had \$202.00 on his person when he was arrested. When Detective Johnson arrived on the scene, he saw evidence inside the apartment that matched what the victims said happened, including a kitchen in disarray with pulled-out drawers and open cabinets, and a bed that appeared to have been moved and jostled. (R. p.153, line 16-R. p.154, line 1; R. p.180, lines 1-5.)

All of Appellant's arguments center on the credibility of the victims. He points out that Bentley testified she had met Appellant on April 13, 2011, and that he knocked on her door on April 14, 2011. However, Appellant was able to produce a booking document showing that Appellant was in the Anderson County Detention Center on April 13, 2011, and did not get released until April 14, 2011, at approximately 4:00 p.m. While this certainly contradicts Bentley's testimony about meeting him on April 13, this information does not preclude his being able to knock on her door on the afternoon of the April 14. During cross-examination, defense counsel asked her about his knocking on April 14 in the following exchange:

[Appellant]: And then April 14<sup>th</sup>, which of course would have been a Thursday, [Appellant] came to your place for the first time just to scout it out. Is that right?

[Bentley]: Yes.

[Appellant]: What time did he come by? Was it in the afternoon?

[Bentley]: Yes.

[Appellant]: About 2:00?

[Bentley]: I'm not sure.

[Appellant]: But definitely in the afternoon on April  
14<sup>th</sup>.

[Bentley]: He did.

(R. p.100, lines 7-16.) (emphasis added.) At no time did Bentley indicate Appellant's knock occurred prior to 4:00 p.m. on April 14, 2011. Therefore, he could conceivably have been released from jail at 4:00 p.m. and still knocked on Bentley's door some time in the afternoon. And while Bentley's testimony did indicate she met Appellant on April 13, 2011, people can get dates wrong, as Detective Johnson pointed out. (R. p.194, line 20-R. p.195, line 23.)

Regardless, a witness's credibility goes to the weight of the evidence and is a determination to be made by the jury. See Gibbs v. State, Op. No. 27253 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed May 15, 2013) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 22 at 28, 35) ("Assessment of the credibility of witnesses is a question for the jury, not the court, and it is the jury that decides the weight to be afforded the testimony." (quoting Melton v. Williams, 281 S.C. 182, 186, 314 S.E.2d 612, 614-15 (Ct. App. 1984))). See also State v. Stuckey, 347 S.C. 484, 499, 556 S.E.2d 403, 411 (Ct. App. 2001) (citing State v. Scott, 330 S.C. 125, 131 n. 4, 497 S.E.2d 735, 738 n. 4 (Ct. App. 1998) (on appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, issues of witness credibility are solely for the jury, not the appellate court)); State v. Ham, 268 S.C. 340, 342, 233 S.E.2d 698, 698 (1977) ("Where the determination of guilt is dependent upon the credibility of the witnesses, a motion for a directed verdict is properly refused.").

Appellant argues in his brief that, with respect to his armed robbery charge, the State failed to prove the element of a taking. On the contrary, direct evidence was presented by Bentley's testimony that approximately \$350.00 was taken from the

apartment during the incident. Further, the jury could have believed Appellant took the money based on Detective Johnson's testimony that Appellant had \$202.00 when he was arrested. Appellant argues that because the victims' testimony was fabricated, it is impossible to know whether the money ever existed or was in the apartment in the first place, thus only raising a mere suspicion that Appellant committed an armed robbery. However, this argument goes back to a credibility issue. As previously noted, credibility issues are for the jury to resolve and go to the weight of the evidence. Thus, denial of the directed verdict motion on this basis was proper.

Appellant also argues the State was unable to prove Appellant was guilty of first-degree burglary because no competent evidence established that Appellant entered Bentley's apartment with the intent to commit a crime. However, intent is a question for the jury. The trial court charged the jury correctly on the required criminal intent stating:

Criminal intent is always a matter that must be determined by you, the jury, from the circumstances surrounding the situation shown to have existed. . . . Now, that is how you make a determination of whether or not the element of intent was present. It is not necessary to establish intent by direct or positive evidence, but intent may be established by inference in the same way as any other fact by taking into consideration the acts of the parties and all the facts and circumstances of the case.

(R. p.205, lines 6-24.) (emphasis added.) In State v. Meggett, 398 S.C. 516, 728 S.E.2d 492 (Ct. App. 2012), this Court affirmed the trial court's denial of a directed verdict on his burglary charge. This Court noted the question of intent is for the determination of the jury and can be based on a defendant's actions after he had entered the dwelling. Id. at 527, 728 S.E.2d at 498.

Here, evidence was presented that a robbery had occurred after Appellant entered the apartment. Law enforcement officers and the victims testified about the apartment

being in disarray and having a broken window, and the victims testified Appellant took items from them. This evidence was sufficient to show intent to commit a crime within and supported the burglary charge.

Appellant argues false testimony by the two sole eyewitnesses should have created reasonable doubt. The State submits that Appellant had ample opportunity to create that reasonable doubt through its cross-examination of the victims. Indeed, Appellant emphasized the victims might have broken the window and pulled out kitchen drawers themselves to make it look like they had been victims of a crime. Appellant focused on a feud between Bentley and Ellis as a possible motive. Appellant produced a document contradicting Bentley's testimony that she met Appellant on April 13, 2011, by showing he was in the Anderson County Detention Center at the time. All of this was presented to the jury, and the jury was entitled to make its own determination about the credibility of the victims. The trial court charged the jury on credibility as follows:

Now, in performing your function as finders of fact, it is essential that you must determine credibility of the witnesses. You must consider which evidence you are going to believe and which evidence you are going not [sic] to believe. You have a right to disbelieve all or a part of any witness' testimony. You may believe all of any witness' testimony.

(R. p.204, lines 7-13.)

In sum, all of Appellant's arguments rest on one basic argument—the credibility of the victims. Because the trial court is only concerned with the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight, when deciding whether to grant or deny a directed verdict motion, credibility must not be considered. See State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006). Rather, issues of credibility must be sent to the jury for resolution. See Gibbs v. State, Op. No. 27253 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed May 15,

2013) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 22 at 28, 35) (“Assessment of the credibility of witnesses is a question for the jury, not the court, and it is the jury that decides the weight to be afforded the testimony.”) Here, the trial court properly denied the directed verdict motion and allowed the case to go to the jury, and its decision should be affirmed by this Court.